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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SAN JOSE DIVISION

JOHN JOSEPH FARLEY, JR., CaseNo.: C 11-01994-HK

Plaintiff, ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO
DISMISSAND DENYING MOTION
FOR ORDERS TO STOP
HARASSMENT

V.

SANTA CLARA COUNTY DEPARTMENT
OF CHILD SUPPORT SERIVCES,

Defendant

N N N N’ N e e e e

On April 22, 2011, Plaintiff John Farley, proceedprg se filed a complaint alleging
constitutional, federal and state law claims against Defendant Santa Clarg Depattment of
Child Support Services (“DCSS”) for enforcing a New York Family Courtrorelguiring him to
pay child support. Plaintiff also has moved fodeas to stop hrassment based afiegations
similar to thoseset forth in the complaint. Defendant now movesismas Because the Court
deems the motianappropriate for decision without hearing, the oral arguar@hicase
management conferenseheduled for October 13, 2046eVACATED.

For the reasons below, the Court GRANTSrtiagion to dismis$laintiff's claims thatthe
suspension of his drivex’license violates the fundamental right to travelfanéhtentional
infliction of emotional distres8VITH LEAVE TO AMEND. All other claims are dismissed
WITHOUT LEAVE TO AMEND. TheCourt also DENIES Plainti motion for orders to stop

harassment.
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.  BACKGROUND

According to the complaint, in November 1991, Plaintiff learned from an estranged
girlfriend that he was the father of a babgl.gECF No. 1 (Complaint) 9 3a; § 3l. In 1994, the
“Manhattan Family Court” ordered Plaintiff, then a resident of New YorteSta pay child
support.Id.  3b. Around the same time, the girl's mother obtained an “Order of Protection”
against Plaintit Id. § 3n. She also had him arrested “many times” for “follow[ing] the court
ordered visitation....requiring him to appear at [the girl's mother’s] home on speayfs at
specific times.”Id.

In or about 1996, Plaintiff's child support case was transferred to the Family dE dlot
State of New York, Suffolk County (“Suffolk Court”)d. § 3c. Over Plaintiff's objections, the
Suffolk Court allegedly inflated the imputed income used to calculate his child supposita
without consulting Plainti's financial records.ld. 1 3s; 3u. In or about 1999, the Suffolk Court
jailed Plaintiff for 24 hours for willful contempt of an order to pay child supploity 3w.
Plaintiff was released after producing proof of employment and partikldagenent of child
support.Id. I 3x. Since 1999, the girl's mother has refused to allow Plaintiff to contact or sisit
daughter, in violation of a “court ordered visitation scheduld.™ 3z.

In October 2009, the Santa Clara County Superior Court issagdifPl Notice of

Registration of Oubf-State Support OrdeiSeeDefendant’s Request for Judicial Notice (“RIN”),

Ex. B! In or about 2010, a DCSS employee named “Melissa A. Popps” began sending Plaintjiff

regular notices requesting payment of child support. Complaint § 3d. In addition, D€ifeSIgl

took action to suspend Plaintiff's driver's license and revoke his passparat 1 3kk.

! The Court takes judicial notice of the records of the Suffolk and Santa Clara Counsy cg
SeeCity of Sausalito v. O'NejlB86 F.3d 1186, 1223 (9th Cir. 2004) (The Couray take judicial
notice of a record of a state agency suject to reasonable dispuje.”

2 DCSS is responsible for establishing, modifying and enforcing child suppaitiastand

obligations in Santa Clara Count$eeCal. Fam. Code § 1406(a). If a parent fails to meet his ol

her child support obligations, DCSS is required to submit the parent’s name to the DMV, whig

must withhad issuance or renewal of the parent’s driver’s license. Cal. Fam. Code § 17520.

DCSS also reports the parent to the State Department, which may revoke ornorefsise &

passport in the parent’s namgee42 U.S.C. 8652(k). In addition, the Supei@wurt may enforce
2
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Plaintiff filed the instant action on April 22, 2011. He claimed that DCSS’s conduct
violated provisions of the U.S. Constitution prohibiting involuntary servitude and guaranteei
right to travel. He also appears to allege intentional infliction of emotional disiseg®|l as

violations of criminal statutes prohibiting the imposition of a condition of peosag&8 U.S.C. §

1581, sale into involuntary servitudeel8 U.S.C. § 1584, and conspiracies to violate civil rights

Seel8 U.S.C. § 241. Plaintiff seeks compensatory and punitive damages, as well as aarinjuf

releasing his travel documisrand removing debt obligations from his record.

lI. LEGAL STANDARD

Dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is appropriate only where the complaint lackgrazable
legal theory or sufficient facts to support a cognizable legal theddgridiondo v. Centinela
Hosp. Med. Ctr.521 F.3d 1097, 1104 (9th Cir.2008). For purposes of a motion to dismiss, thq
plaintiff's allegations are taken as true, and the court must construartpiact in the light most
favorable to the plaintiffJenkins v. McKeither895 U.S. 411, 421 (1969). “To survive a motion
to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as taiate a claim to
relief that is plausible on its face.” A claim has facial plausibility when thetgtgleads factual
content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendang ihaé
misconduct alleged.’Ashcroft v. Igbal129 S.Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009) (citiBgll Atl. Corp. v.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 556, 570 (2007)). Thus, a court needauefpt as true conclusory
allegations, unreasonable inferences, legal characterizations, or urtecgtaductions of fact
contained in the complainClegg v. Cult Awareness Netwof8 F.3d 752, 754-755 (9th
Cir.1994).

Civil rights complaints brought bgro seplaintiffs are held to a less stringent standard tha
pleadings drafted by attorneyMaurer v. Individually & as Members of Los Angeles County

Sheriff's Dept.691 F.2d 434, 437 (9th Cir. 198 ternal citations omitted).Pro seplaintiffs

child support obligations by imposing a fine or jail senter®ee, e.gMoss v. Superior Court
(Ortiz), 17 Cal. 4th 396 (Cal. 1998).
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should be give “anopportunity to amend their complaintsdeercome any deficiency unleiss
clearly appears ... that the deficiencyimat be overcome by amendmentld. Where amendment
would be futile, however, dismissal may be ordered with prejudicenas v. Kipp90 F.3d 386,
393 (9th Cir. 1996).

[ll. DISCUSSION

A. Plaintiff Fails to State a Claim Under Section 1983

Title 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983 provides a cause of action for the deprivatioights, privileges,
or immunities secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States” lpyeasiyn acting

“under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or ts&yenez v. Toledal46 U.S.

635, 638 (1980)Section 1983 is not itself a source of substantive rights, but rather a method for

vindicating federal rights elsewhere conferr&keGraham v. Conngr490 U.S. 386, 393-94
(1989). To state a claim under Section 1983, a plaintiff must allege (1) theoriad&t right
secured by the Constitution lamws of the United States, a(®) that the violation was committed
by a persoracting under color daw. SeeWest v. Atkins487 U.S. 42, 48 (1988).

In order to sue a municipal agency under Section 1983, a plaintiff must show that the
alleged injury was inflicted through the execution or implementation of the eroffigal
policy.” Monell v. Dep't of Soc. Services of City of New Y486 U.S. 658, 694 (1978)Official
policy” may include a “longstanding practice or custom which constitutestdvelard operating
procedure’ of the local government entityJlrich v. City & County of San Francis¢808 F.3d
968, 984 (9th Cir. 200Zxiting Jett v. Dallas Indep. Sch. Dis91 U.S. 701, 737 (1989)
Alternatively, the plaintiff may showhat the* decisionmaking official was, as a matter of state

law, a final policymaking authoritwhose edicts or acts may fairly be said to represent official

3 Plaintiff does not specificallgssert his constitutional claims under Section 1983. Howe\
Plaintiff cites no cases implying a cause of action under the Thirteernghdment or the right to
travel, and the Court knows of non8ee, e.gJane Doe | v. Redd{ 02-05570 WHA, 2003 WL
23893010 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 4, 2003) (finding no implied cause of action under the Thirteenth
Amendment). The Court will therefore construe Plaintiff's allegationsea8d® 1983 claims.
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policy in the area of decisiorgr that ‘an official with final policymaking authority either
delegated that authority to, or ratified the decision of, a subordinlate.(internal citations
omitted).

1. The Scope of Plaintiff’'s Claims is Significantly Narrowed by the Requigments
of Monell and the Statute of Limitations

a. Plaintiff 's Allegations Regarding Defendant’s Implementation of
State and Federal Law are Sufficient tdState a Claim for Municipal
Liability

Defendant first contends that because the complaint does not allege “that thésCounty
policies were the moving force behind any constitutional violations,” Plainsffdibed to site a
claim for municipal liability undeMonell. ECF No. 8 (Motion to Dismiss) at 8. It is true that
Plaintiff does not assert that Defendant’s conducttvasesult of “standard operating
procedure” or that “Melissa A. Popps”asfinal policymakirng authority.” Ulrich, 308 F.3d at
984. Thus, to the extent that Plaintiff's claims are based on actions taken bypdds.d? other
DCSS employees outside the scope of their official duties, Defendant may nad belbe under
Section 1983.

On the ¢her hand, Defendant repeatedly emphasizes that it was legally requiredrte enf
the Suffolk Court judgment, and that any action taken to revoke Plaintiff's driveissk and
passport was authorized by state and federal Bee, e.gECF No. 19 (Motion to Disimss) at 6.
Defendant’s concessions imply that it is County policy to comply with its statobdigations.
CompareStrickler v. Waters989 F.2d 1375, 1390 (4th Cir. 19987 he City of Portsmouth is not
liable under section 1983 for the actions of its Sheriff in the administration of itsgeause under
the law of Virginia those actions do not embody an official policy of the City oPorith?).
Insofar asPlaintiff is simply challenging the constitutionality of the statutdmd support
enforement regimehis allegations, combined with Defendant’s statements, are sufficidatdo s

a claim formunicipal liability.

b. Plaintiff 's Claims Regarding Defendant’s Enforcement Activities
Since April 22, 2009 are not TimeBarred
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A Section 1983 claim muste filed within the state statute of limitations for personal injur
actions. Wilson v. Garcia471 U.S. 261 (1985). In California, personal injury actions accruing
after 2002 are governed by a twear limitations periodSeeCal. Code Civ. P. § 335.Krupnick
v. Duke Energy Morro Bay, L.L.C115 Cal. App. 4th 1026, 1028 (Cal. Ct. App. 2004).claim
accrues when the plaintiff knows, or should know, of the injury whichei®#isis of the cause of
action. Fink v. Shedler192 F.3d 911, 914 (9th CiL999) see alsd’latt Elec. Supply, Inc. v.
EOFF Elec., Inc.522 F.3d 1049, 1054 (9th Cir.2008) (a claim ur@alifornia law accrues when
“the plaintiff either discovers or has reason to discolve existence of [the] claiin(internal
citations omited).

Defendant argues that because Plaintiff's claims are based on a child sugpdrt aw
imposed by the Suffolk Court “in or about 1996,” thisa@tts timebarred. Motion to Dismissat
3. While the Suffolk Court judgment clearly forms thaesis for Plaintiff's obligations, the
complaint states that “circa 2010,” Defendant attempted to “harass, intimidatguiate, coerce
or compel...[Plaintiff] to pay an imposed debt” and “conspired” with the DMV ani Sta
Department to deprive Plaintiéif protected rights. ECF No. 1 (Complaint) at 5. As the complai
was filed on April 22, 2011, su@nforcementelatedconduct may fall within the limitations
period?

However dthough Plaintiff claims thathe Suffolk Courinflated his imputed income in
calculating his child support obligations, this Court cannot overturn a fifteerelgeprdgment
from another jurisdiction. |&ntiff’s claims thatare based on the Suffolk Courirsposition or

calculationof child support obligationarethusbarred by the statute of limitations.

4 A claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress must be filed witthi@ oneyear
statute of limiations for intentional tortsMagpali v. Farmers Group, Inc47 Cal. App. 4th 1024
(Cal. Ct. App. 1996) The Court discusses Plaintiff's claim for emotional distiesise following
section of this order.

3 Neither party has offered evidence of the date on which Defébdgan corresponding
with Plaintiff or took action to revoke his travel documents. If Plaintiff choas@kktan amended
complaint, the Court requests that he specify the date(s) on which he assemtfabefook
adverse action against him. Defentaray also submit judicially noticeable evidence of such
date(s) if it moves to dismiss the amended complaint.
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2. Plaintiff has not Allegeda Violation of a “Right Secured by theConstitution or
Laws of the United States”

a. Thirteenth Amendment

Plaintiff first argueghat because his child support obligatioaguire him to meet a certain
income threshold, he has been subjected to “involuntary servitude” in violation of theithirte
Amendment of the U.S. Constitutinln essence, the complaint alleges that the freedom to cha
where— or whethekto workis constitutionally protecteBand that the enforcement of the Suffoll
Court judgment therefore infringes Plaintiff’s rights.

Both the Ninth Circuit and the California Supreme Court have expresslyeckjbet
contention that the enforcement of child support obligations violates the ThirteeetidArant.
In United States v. Ballek 70 F.3d 871, 874 (9th Cir. 199%he Ninth Circuit held that child
support fall[s] within that narrow class of obligations that may be enforced by means of
imprisonment whout violating the constitutional prohibition against slavemfoting that all fifty
states authorized the enforcement of child support obligations with criminébsanthe court
found that “ensuring that persons too young to take care of themselves can count onrboth the
parents for material support” wasrfe of the most important and sensitive exercises of the polic]
power” Id. The court therefore affirmed a swonth jail sentence for willfully failing to pay child
support.

In Moss v. Superior Court (Ortizl7 Cal. 4th 396, 40&@l. 1998), the California Supreme
Court also upheld a delinquent parent’s jail sentence against a Thirteenth Ameridiienge.

TheMossCourt first found that “in those decisions in which a Thirteenth Amendment violation

6 Section 1 of the Thirteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution provides: “Neither slaV
nor involuntary servitude, except as a punishtfor crime whereof the party shall have been dul

convicted, shall exist within the United States, or any place subject to thedigtion.”
! Plaintiff does not cite a particular Constitutional provision in which the allegbtitag
choose one’s mode of employment is found. He does, however, offer a nod to the Declaratio
Independence, arguing that “forcing [him] to get a job the court deems apfeopsizad
of...choosing to live his life as he pleases is in opposition to Life, Liberty and the Radrsuit
Happiness.” ECF No. 1 (Complaint) at 19.
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been found on the basis of involuntary servitude, the court has equated the employment cong
to peonage under which a person is bound to the service of a particular employer oumiasie
obligation to that person is satisfiedd. The Courtreasonedhat although child support
obligations may require a non-custodial parent to seek and accept employment, theYpohol not
the parent to any particular employer or form of employment or otheaffese the freedom of the
parent The parent is free to elect the type of employment and the employer, subjyetct anl
expectation that to the extent necessary to meet the familial support obligationptbgneent
will be commensurate with the education, tragniand abilities of the parentld.
DismissingMossas “political opinion, not a legal position,” Complain©aPlaintiff urges
the Court to rely instead dunited States v. Mussry26 F.2d 1448, 1453-54 (9th Cir. 1984). In
Mussry the Ninth Circuit held that employewho hired Indonesian servants, retained their
passports and airline tickets, and forced them to work fifteen hours a day had imposeéti@nc
of “involuntary servitude ® Mussryis inapposite here because it clearly contemplates a situatio
in which an individual is forced to work for a specific employ8ee idat 1453 (“Involuntary
servitude occurs when an individual coerces anatherhis servicdy improper or wrongful
conduct that is intended to cause, and does cause, the other pers@vetbatihe or she has no
alternative but to perform the labor.”) (emphasis addedhile being required to meet an income
threshold may limit Plaintiff's options, Defendant does not mandate where — or whetaatiff
works, so long as he makes enough money to support his daughigsryis also distinguishable

because the defendants there advanced no legitimate interest in the coercive employmen

8 TheMussryCourt construed 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1584, which imposes criminal penalties for the
imposition of a condition of “involuntary servitude.”

o Mussrys holding was later abrogated biyited States v. Kozminski87 U.S. 931, 952
(1988),which limited the scope of the term “involuntary servitude” under 18 U.S.C. § 15ig4l.
Mussry KozminsKs holding assumes the victim is coerced into working for the defen@aet.id.
(A condition of involuntary servitude is imposed where “the victim is forced to worthe
defendanby the use or threat of physical restraint or physical injury, or by the tisesat of
coercion through law or the legal process.”) (emphasis added).
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arrangement with their servants. On the other hand, the support of minor childrenagér of
vital importance to the communityBallek 170 F.3dat874. Thus, even if the right to choose
one’s manner of employment were enshrined in the Constitution, its restrictioth beojpistified
by the state’s substantial interest in enforcing child suppdgations.

Given the clear precedent rejecting the argument that child support violatdsrtherith
Amendment, the Court GRANTS the motion to dismiss Plaintiff’'s claim that Defendant h
subjected him to a condition of “involuntary servitudefTMOUT LEAVE TO AMEND.

b. Right to Travel

The constitutional right to travel “protects the right of a citizen of one Staetér and to
leave another State, the right to be treated as a welcome visitor rather thamesallyrdlien when
temporarily present in the second Statgg, for those travelers who elect to become permanent
residents, the right to be treated like other citizens in that St8sehz v. Re&26 U.S. 489, 500
(1999). A state law implicates the right to travel when it actually deters interstate trénesl, w
impeding travel is its primary objective, or when it uses a classification tlvasderpenalize the
exercise of the rightAttorney General of New York v. Satopez 476 U.S. 898, 903 (1986).
Where an ordinance burdens the right to travel,stilgect to strict scrutinySeel_eague of United
Latin Am. Citizens v. Bredesés00 F.3d 523, 534 (6th Cir. 20Q0(8fate law requiring the issuance
of driving certificates instead of licenses to temporary resident aliensubj@esto rational basis

review because it was not intended to impede travel).

I. Suspension of Plaintiff’'s Driver’s License Does not Violate the
Constitutional Right to Travel

Here,Plaintiff appears to contend that Cal. Fam. Code § 17520, which requires the DM

withhold a delinquent parent’s driver’s license, impermissibly burdens the rigave While

10 It appears frm the complaint that Plaintiff has not yet had his driver’s license or passpoyrt

withheld. As such, his claim may not be ripe for adjudicati®ee Texas v. United Stgté23

U.S. 296, 300 (1998)A claim is not ripe foradjudication if it rests upotontingent future events
that may not occur as anticipated, or indeed may not occur t didivever, as Defendant does
not address the ripeness issue, the Court declines to consider it here.
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the Court can locate no cases considering the constitutionality of Cal. Fam. Code §H&520, t
California Court of Appeal has upheld amalogoustatute against a similattack. See Tolces v.
Trask 76 Cal. App. 4th 285, 289 (Cal. Ct. App. 1999). Toh&esCourt found thathe *right of

an individual to operate a private automobile cannot be equated with the fundamentaitoradtit
right of an individual to travel.”As the court reasoned, because a parent with a suspended lice
“can still travel as a passenger in a car, bus, or pldreeordinance did not trigger strict scrutiny.
Id.; see alsdRoss v. Gunaris395 F. Supp. 623, 628 (D. Mass. 1975) (“Sectiofy 8&anction

limits only one means of transportation— a car operated by the particular indlivichearight to
travel does not require the state to avoid any regulation of methods of transporiatiauit

have some minimal effect on interstate trayeKing v. Meesg43 Cal. 3d 1217, 122&6l.1987)
(“It is well established in California that the privileges conferred by a drivesfsskcconstitute an
important property right, although not so fundamental a right as to trigger a uiohyg

analysis”) (internal citations omitted).

The Court agrees that because it forecloses only one mode of transportation, th&®usp
of a driver’s license does not infringe the fundamental right to tr&mfliorcement of Section
17520is thus constitutional so long as the statute beearsasonable rationship to a legitimate
governmental interest.United States v. LeMag60 F.3d 1018, 1031 (9th Cir. 2001)s
discussed above, the state’s interest in enforcing child support obligations isbiiportance.”
Ballek 170 F.3cat874. Section 17520 is obviously intended to further that interest; the statutq
applies only where a parent fails to comply with his or her child support obligationsG8f8l D
must “immediately” send a release to the DMV when the p&éfaund to be in compliance or
negotiates an agreement with the local child support agency for a payment schedwarages
or reimbursement.” Cal. Fam. Code 8 17520(h)(1).

The Court is doubtful that Plaintiff couldlege facts sufficiento state aconstitutional

nse

L

claimunder Section 17520. However, while the Court finds the reasoning of those cases uphpldir

the suspension of a driver’s license highly persuasive, there is no controllindgreagtemining

that such condudould notviolate the right to travelGiventhat Plaintiff is seHrepresentednd
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alleging civil rights violationsthe Court GRANTS the motion to dismiBgintiff’s claim under

Section17520WITH LEAVE TO AMEND.

il. Revocation of Plaintiff’'s Pasgort Does not Violate the
Constitutional Right to Travel

The Ninth Circuit has held that revocation of a delinquent parent’'s passport under 42
U.S.C. 8§ 652(k) does not offend the Constituti@eeEunique v. Powell302 F.3d 971 (9th Cir.
2002). Thecourt first noted that “international travel...is subject to reasonable govetnme
regulation within the bounds of due proceskl’at 974. Given the widespread recognition that
the failue to provide for children is “a serious offense against morals and wediiaded burden to
the “public fisc,” the court concluded that 42 U.S.C. § 653§k¥ses rational basis review with
flying colors.” Id. at 975. Because th€ourt of Appeahasexplicitly found 42 U.S.C. § 652(k) to
be constitutional, he Court GRANTShe motion to dismiss Plaintiff claimthat revocation of his
passparviolates his fundamental right to traw®THOUT LEAVE TO AMEND.

B. Plaintiff has Failed to State a Claim for Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress

1. Plaintiff has not Complied with the Tort Claims Act

Under the California Tort Claims Act, a plaintiff may not sue a public entitgdanages
until (1) he has lodged a complaint with the entityd(2) his claim has been rejectedguyen v.
Los Angeles County Harbor/UCLA Med. C8.Cal. App. 4th 729, 732 (Cal. Ct. App. 1992)
(citing Cal. Gov. Code, § 905; § 945.4)he purpose of the claim requiremé&nto enable the
government bodto investigate and evaluate the merits of claims, assess liability, and, where
appropriate, to settle claims without the expense of litigation.The Tort Claims Act applies to
claims for infliction of emotional distres$Seel oehr v. Ventura County Cmty. Coll. Djst47 Cal.
App. 3d 1071, 1081Gal. Ct. App. 1983)(“Plaintiff's first three causes of action, ostensibly
sounding in contract, seek monetary recovery for emotional and mental distresadpaiffering,
humiliation, and damage to reputation. Such actions obviously fall within the terms of the Tor

Claims Act?).

11
CaseNo.: C 1101994LHK
ORDERGRANTING MOTION TO DISMISSAND DENYING MOTION FOR ORDERS TO STOP
HARASSMENT

[




United States District Court
For the Northern District of California

© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N N N N N DN DN NN R R R R R R R B R R
0o N o 0N WN P O ©OW 0o N o o WwWN B O

Plaintiff's claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress appears to relate to
allegations that Defendant and “Melissa A. Popps” harassed and intimidated &mdiyg
monthly notices “demanding” payment of child support. Complaint at 5. However, because
Plaintiff does not assert that he filed a complaint with Defendant regardinkglgesdsharassment
before suing in federal court, his state tort claims must be dismissed.

2. Plaintiff has Failed to State a Statutory Basis for his Tort Claims

California law insulates public entities from liability for injuries arising outasf act or
omission of the public entity or a public employee or any other person” except ategrbyi
statute. Cal. Gov. Code 8§ 815(a). As the California Court of Appeal has explained, fann@gli
the tort liability of a public entity is wholly statutory.Tolan v. State of California ex rel. Dept. of
Transp, 100 Cal. App. 3d 980, 9884&l.Ct. App. 1979). Therefore, inder to state a claim for
intentional infliction of emotional distress against Defendant, Plaintiff must nedyspecific
statute authorizing such a claintf. Dina v. People ex rel. Dept. of Transibl Cal. App. 4th
1029, 1053 (Cal. Ct. App. 2007B ecawse the Department is a public entity, any claim of
negligence against it must be based on a statute.”).

Plaintiff's complaint does not refer to any California statute, let alone omeygige to a
claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress. His claim is thusdzhunder Cal. Gov.

Code § 815.

3. Plaintiff has Failedto Allege Facts Sufficient to Establish a Claim for
Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress

A claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress must altei§e) extreme and
outrageous conduct by the defendant with the intention of causing, or recklesgdisfeiga
probability of causing, emotional distress; (2) the plaintiff's sufferingreeor extreme emotional
distress; and (3) actual and proximate causation of the emotional distressdeyendant's
outrageous conduct.Davidson v. City of Westminst&2 Cal. 3d 197, 209 (Cal. 1982) (internal
citations omitted).To be actionable, the defendartanduct must be “so extreme as to exceed a

bounds of that usually tolerated in a civilized community.”
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Plaintiff has not shown that Defendant’s conduct was “extreme and outrageous,tiitor th
wasintendedto cause emotional distreskl. While the complaint states that Defendant “did
knowingdy and willfully harass” Plaintiff, the only facts alleged are that Defenttaade contact
with [Plaintiff] several times...demanding money for a payment of a debt oatibig’

Complaint at 5. Similarly, Plaintiff's allegation that Defendant “conspivath the DMV and
State Department is unsupported by any facts at all. Plaintiff cannot state airtpiynby relying
on conclusory legal terms; he mtaliege with at least some degree of particularity overt acts
which defendants engaged in that supphis] claim.” Gray v. Hernande51 F. Supp. 2d 1167,
1183 (S.D. Cal. 2009kiting Jones v. Community Redevelopment Agerty F.2d 646, 649 (9th
Cir.1984). Furthermore, insofar as Plaintiff's claims are based on Defendamgiance with its
legal obligation to enforce outstanding child support awards, such conduct can hardly be
considered extreme and outrageous.

Because there may be a set of facts under which Defendant could be held liti@e for
intentional infliction of emotional distresthe Court GRANTS the motion to dismiss Plaingff
state tort claim WITH LEAVE TO AMEND" If he choosesotamend Plaintiff must rely on a
specific statute authorizing his clairtHe must also allegactsshowing that he complied with the

Tort Claims Act and that Defendant’'s methods of enforcing child support obhgatiere

1 Defendantrgues it iabsolutelyyimmune from suit bcause Cal. Gov. Code § 821.6
insulates public employees from liability related to “instituting or prosecutipguaiicial or
administrative proceeding.” However, the cases relied upon by Defendamgpesite in that
they involve the collection or imposition of child support payments by district ayteroifices.
See Jager v. County of Alame@&aCal. App. 4th 294 (Cal. Ct. App. 199Raplan v. LaBarbera
58 Cal. App. 4th 175 (Cal. Ct. App. 1997). In contrast, Defendant here did not “institute” o
“prosecute” child support proceedings, it simply attempted to enforce the child saypoait
imposed by the Suffolk Court.

Defendant also suggests it is protected under a provision immunizing publesdotit
injuries based on an employee’s “exiee of discretion.” Cal. Gov. Code § 802.2.0tNill acts
requiring a public employee to choose among alternatives entail the asscodtion’ withinthe
meaning of section 820.2Barner v. Leeds24 Cal.4th 676, 684—8%&4&l.2000). “I mmunity
applies only to deliberate and considered policy decisions, in which a conscious balanskgy of
and advantages ... took plac&€Caldwell v. MontoyalO Cal. 4th 972, 98C@al. 1995). If proven,
the choice by Defendant’'s employee to “harass” Plaintiff dowlt be a “considered policy
decision” subject to immunity.
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“extreme and outrageous.” Of course, if the Court finds that Plaintiff's faalleglations do not
have evidentiary support, Plaintiff may be subject to sanctiSesFed. R. Civ. P. 11.

C. Plaintiff's Other Claims Are Dismissed Without Leave to Amend

In California, a punitive damages award may not be assessed against ampiityliSee
Cal. Gov. Code 8§ 818Plaintiff's prayer for punitive damages against Defendant is thus
foreclosed

Plaintiff alsoappears to allegaolations of 18 U.S.C. § 1581, 18 U.S.C. § 1584, and 18
U.S.C. § 241, which authorize criminal penalties for imposing a condition of peonage, sale int
involuntary servitude, and conspiring to violate civil rights, respectively. Notieaited statutes
contains a private cause of actiddee alsd®el EImer v. Metzge967 F.Supp. 398, 403
(S.D.Cal.1997) (“Civil causes of action ... do not generally lie under the criminatestabntained
in Title 18 of the United States Codg.” Therefore, an individual plaintiff may not invoke these
provisions in a civil suit; only the Government may institute such a prosecution.

As Plaintiff's claims for punitive damages and under Title 18’s criminal statutes are bar
as a matter of law, any amendment would be futile. The Court therefore GRANT®tiba to
dismiss these claim&/ITHOUT LEAVE TO AMEND.

D. Plaintiff’'s Motion for Order s to Stop Harassment is Denied

On August 15, 2011, Plaintiff filed a “Request for Orders to Stop Harassmenthgltegt
“Ms. Popps, along with the agency’s attorney, and DMV” were threateningfersiibis driver’'s
license if he failed to comply with his child support obligations. ECF No. 12 (Requé&tders
to Stop Harassment) at 1. As Plaintiff appears to be relying on facts sidigtaimilar to those
contained in his complaint, the Court DENIES the motion for the same reasons it grants

Defendant’s motion to dismiss.

V. CONCLUSION
As discussed above, the Courtlmubtful that Plaintiff can state a cause of action against

Defendant. However, because he is-sgresentedand there is noontrolling precedent holding
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that Cal. Fam. Code § 17520 is constitutional, Plaintiff may amend his complaint under that
provision. In addition, because it is conceivable that Plaintiff could statenafolaintentional
infliction of emotional distress, he may amend that claim as well. Plaintiff's other cleems a

dismissed with prejudice.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated:October11, 2011 j‘w H" KO{\,
LUCY H. @OH
United States District Judge
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